

# EQUITABLE PATIENT ACCESS TO PRIMARY HEALTHCARE IN AUSTRALIA

Fergus W Gardiner, Lara Bishop, Barbara de Graaff, Julie A Campbell, Lauren Gale, and Frank Quinlan



Research Report | December 2020

#### Acknowledgments

This report has been prepared by the Royal Flying Doctor Service Research and Policy Unit using data and evidence from multiple sources. The report has benefited from review by academic experts, and several Royal Flying Doctor Service staff. We are grateful for their assistance and would like to acknowledge the external experts and internal staff.

Published by Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia Level 2, 10–12 Brisbane Avenue Barton ACT 2600 Australia

ABN 74 438 059 643 Tel: (02) 6269 5500

**Suggested citation:** Gardiner, F. W., Bishop, L., de Graaf, B., Campbell, J. A., Gale, L., Quinlan, F. (2020). Equitable patient access to primary healthcare in Australia. Canberra, The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia.

\*corresponding author: Fergus Gardiner, Royal Flying Doctor Service; (02) 6269 5500; Fergus.gardiner@rfds.org.au

© 2020 Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia

#### About the Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS)

The RFDS is one of the largest and most comprehensive aeromedical organisations in the world. Using the latest in aviation, medical and communications technology, the RFDS delivers extensive primary healthcare (PHC) and 24-hour emergency service to those who live, work and travel throughout Australia.

#### **Commitment to Indigenous Reconciliation**

The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (RFDS) respects and acknowledges Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as the First Australians and our vision for reconciliation is a culture that strives for unity, equity and respect between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and other Australians. The RFDS is committed to improved health outcomes and access to health services for all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians, and our Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) outlines our intentions to use research and policy to drive improvement. RFDS research and policy reports include Indigenous data as part of a broader effort to improve health outcomes and access to health services for Indigenous Australians as a contribution to the 'Close the Gap' campaign. This research and policy report contributes to the aims of the RAP.

#### **Royal Flying Doctor Service Research and Policy Unit**

In mid-2015, the RFDS established a Research and Policy Unit, located in Canberra. The Unit's role is to gather evidence about, and recommend solutions to, improving health outcomes and health service access for patients and communities cared for by RFDS programs. The Research and Policy Unit can be contacted by phone on (02) 6269 5500 or by email at <u>enquiries@rfds.org.au</u>.

#### Notes about this report

#### Use of the term 'Indigenous'

The term 'Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' is preferred in RFDS publications when referring to the distinct Indigenous peoples of Australia. However, the term 'Indigenous Australians' is used interchangeably with 'Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' in order to assist readability.

Throughout this publication, the term 'Indigenous Australians' refers to all persons who identify as being of Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander, or both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander origin.

#### Data limitations

Data in RFDS reports come from a number of different administrative datasets, all of which have limitations that should be considered when interpreting the results.

# Contents

Acknowledgments	2
Commitment to Indigenous Reconciliation	
Royal Flying Doctor Service Research and Policy Unit	
Notes about this report	
Abbreviations	6
Foreword	
Research Aims	9
Summary of findings	10
1. Introduction	11
1.1. Aims	14
2. Methods	15
2.1. Setting	16
2.2. Data sources	16
2.3. Statistical analysis	16
3. Results	17
4. Discussion	
5. Limitations	
6. Conclusion & Recommendations	
References	

### **Tables**

Table 1 Rural and remote regions with lowest levels of access to primary healthcare	
(RFDS and non-RFDS) within a 60-minute drive	.19
Table 2 Patient utilisation of the Medicare Benefits Schedule and RFDS primary	
healthcare services, in the financial year 2017–18	22
Table 3 Medicare utilisation and population deaths by remoteness, in the financial year 2017–18	23
Table 4 Evidence-based recommendations to improve the retention of the rural and remote workforce	.30

## **Figures**

Figure 1	Comparison be	etween a major d	ity and a very	remote patient	journey	
----------	---------------	------------------	----------------	----------------	---------	--

# **Appendices**

Appendix 1 Rural and remote primary healthcare (combined) locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation	
Appendix 2 Rural and remote GP locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation	40
Appendix 3 Rural and remote nurse-led clinic locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation	41
Appendix 4 Rural and remote dental clinic locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation	42
Appendix 5 Rural and remote mental health service locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation	43

### **Abbreviations**

the Atlas	Australian Atlas of Healthcare Variation
ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
AIHW	Australian Institute of Health and Welfare
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
GP	General practitioner
MBS	Medicare Benefits Schedule
МІ	Myocardial infarction
RA	Regional area
RFDS	Royal Flying Doctor Service
SPOT	Service Planning and Operational Tool
WHO	World Health Organization

### Foreword



#### **Dr Stephen Duckett**

Access to healthcare in the bush is critical. Despite much work over past decades, many people in rural, regional and remote communities across Australia continue to experience difficulty in accessing adequate medical care and health outreach programs.

Australia prides itself on its healthcare system: however, there are many people within Australia that do not have reasonable access to primary healthcare. This report defines and focuses on those who miss out on access because of where they live. For me, the nearest general practice is a five-minute walk away. This report defines poor geographic access as more than an hour's drive away. On this definition, there are more than 42,000 Australians without any primary care within an hour's drive, and 65,000 without a GP within an hour.

Sometimes the people with poor geographic access are families or groups of less than 10 people; sometimes there might be a couple of hundred living in close proximity.

There is much evidence to show that good primary healthcare is associated with better population health, lower costs and greater equity in health (such as reducing disparities between Indigenous and non-Indigenous groups). Australia needs to improve its primary healthcare system to boost its capacity to provide a range of cultural and community-developed basic services for all Australians, rather than just to those in major cities

We have to look at imaginative solutions to address these access problems: 90 years ago John Flynn showed that imagination when he founded what became the Royal Flying Doctor Service. Providing a 'mantle of safety' for the outback, bringing services to people in remote Australia, will continue to be part of the solution to overcoming geographic barriers to access. The 'mantle of safety' now also includes telehealth services but we need to invest more in such services, including tele-monitoring and other forms of technology enabled care, to provide better access to primary care advice and treatment across a range of disciplines, including allied health.

Australians should have access to core primary healthcare, regardless of where they live in Australia.

Dr Stephen Duckett Health Program Director Grattan Institute



### Summary

Rural and remote populations have poorer health outcomes and lower levels of access to healthcare. People living in these areas are frequently required to travel, sometimes significant distances, to inner regional areas and major cities to access comprehensive primary healthcare services.

There has previously been little research that determines if there is equitable access to primary healthcare for patients with an equal need in rural and remote as compared to other areas of Australia. Equitable access requires the provision of care of equal quality to everyone. Age, gender, Indigenous status, income, geographic location or any other demographic variable should not result in poorer access to care.

Equity in healthcare ensures equal access for those with an equal need; equal utilisation for those with an equal need; and equal or equitable outcomes, often measured by quality-adjusted life expectancy.<sup>2</sup> Equitable access can therefore be measured by reviewing population health outcomes, such as mortality comparisons between different population groups. **This report finds that rural and remote populations are a high needs population, and identifies specific locations where there is inequitable access to primary healthcare services -** general practitioners (GPs), nursing, oral health, mental health and Aboriginal Health Services.

This report also considers reasonable access to healthcare: the fulfilment or obtainment of health services in a timely, accessible, affordable and culturally appropriate manner. There is currently no agreed, comprehensive definition of what otherwise constitutes reasonable access to healthcare, including the maximum distance a person should be required to travel to access healthcare, and the type and frequency of health services that should be accessible to a person within this travel distance. This is problematic for many organisations delivering healthcare to people living outside of major cities, such as the Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS), who strive to provide high-quality, culturally appropriate healthcare in a timely manner.

In the rural and remote context with small populations spread across large geographical areas, it is not realistic for everyone to have access to permanent, local services. However, all should have reasonable access to services. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW), proposes a patient's ability to access primary healthcare within 60 minutes of motor vehicle travel as one measure of reasonable access. This report adopts this measure and contends that to achieve reasonable or equitable access to primary healthcare, people should have, at a minimum, GP, nursing, oral health and mental health services accessible within 60 minutes. Access in this regard could include the ability to utilise permanent services, visiting or 'fly-in fly-out' services within 60 minutes, and have timely access to telehealth services as part of an integrated suite of services.

This report finds that 42,805 Australians, or almost 10% of people living in inner regional, outer regional, remote or very remote Australia, had no access to any primary healthcare services within a 60-minute drive time. Through the Stronger Rural Health Strategy, the Commonwealth Government has committed to ensuring "a sustainable, high quality health workforce that is distributed across the country according to community need, particularly in rural and remote communities". This report identifies areas of highest need, being populations and locations without access to primary healthcare services within a 60-minute drive time, and recommends that these should be addressed first.

Future work should be undertaken, as a priority, to develop a more comprehensive definition and baseline measure of what constitutes equitable and reasonable access to primary healthcare. In addition to the 60-minute drive time, consideration should be given to other physical accessibility factors as well as the financial affordability, cultural safety and acceptability of services. Establishing such a minimum benchmark would be of immense value to policy makers, funders and service delivery organisations to provide a common reference point for the services Australians should reasonably expect to receive, no matter where they live.

The need for equitable access has been further highlighted during the COVID-19 pandemic. Many of the severe COVID-19 patients internationally have been reported to have an underlying history of hypertension, diabetes, coronary heart disease, COPD, and renal disease. Remote and very remote populations have higher rates of these conditions making them more vulnerable populations if infection rates increase in these areas. Simultaneously, these populations have poorer access to primary health care and preventative services. Reducing the incidence of comorbidities by ensuring reasonable and adequate access to comprehensive primary health care would lower these risks.

#### **Research Aims**

The primary aims of this brief report are to determine how many Australians have access to primary healthcare, and identify population concentrations that do not have access to primary healthcare within a 60-minute drive time. Secondary aims include determining whether rural and remote populations utilise medical services at the same rate as people living in major cities and whether mortality rates vary by remoteness of residence.

For the primary research aim, we used data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) to derive geographical population estimates. We defined 'primary healthcare' as including nursing, GP, dental, mental health, and Aboriginal health services as registered on Health Direct. We then used the RFDS Service Planning and Operational Tool (SPOT) to map coverage of primary healthcare services across Australia, with a focus on rural and remote Australia. To determine utilisation by remoteness area (major city, inner and outer regional, and remote and very remote) we used open access Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) statistics. ABS population data was used to determine utilisation per 100,000 population. To determine whether rural and remote populations have equal mortality as compared to major cities, we used the ABS 2017–18 age-standardised death rates by remoteness area. We report our data and findings as summary descriptive statistics.

#### Summary of findings

Results show that major cities had at least one primary healthcare service available (i.e. GP, nurse clinic, dentist and/or a mental health service). 91.1% (n=5,815,981) of people living in inner regional, outer regional, remote and very remote Australia had access to at least one primary healthcare service within a 60-minute drive time. However, 42,805 people had no access to any primary healthcare services within a 60-minute drive time. Furthermore, when looking at the specific primary healthcare type, 65,050 Australians had no access to dental services, and 106,848 had no access to mental health services within a 60-minute drive time. Indigenous Australians accounted for between 11.3% and 31.4% of people without access to primary healthcare services, depending on the primary healthcare type. Additionally, 41,758 Indigenous Australians did not have access to Aboriginal health services, which are known to provide culturally appropriate primary healthcare.

Utilisation of Australian MBS items, in the financial year 2017–18, ranged from 1.7 million per 100,000 population in major cities to 1.0 million per 100,000 in very remote regions. People in major cities accounted for the majority (72.1%) of MBS services, while rural and remote residents accounted for the remainder (27.9%) of MBS services used in Australia. Outside of the MBS, the RFDS provided an additional 148,749 individual primary healthcare medical services to rural and remote areas of Australia, resulting in an additional 615.0 services per 100,000 of the Australian population. When calculating the average MBS utilisation by person (i.e. the number of MBS services used, on average, per person over the financial year 2017–18), people living in major cities and inner regional areas utilised an average of 17.2 and 17.7 MBS services respectively. MBS service utilisation decreased with increasing remoteness, with MBS utilisation rates of 16.1, 13.0 and 10.1 services per person in outer regional, remote and very remote areas respectively. However, when combined with the RFDS medical service utilisation, remote and very remote areas increased to 16.3 and 13.8 average services, per person, respectively.

In regard to the comparison of population health outcomes, the infant death rate increased with increasing remoteness. There were 2.9 deaths per 1,000 live births in major cities compared to 5.1 deaths per 1,000 live births in rural and remote Australia. Remote and very remote areas had the highest rate of infant deaths, with 6.3 deaths per 1,000 live births. Similarly, the overall age-standardised death rate increased with remoteness from 5.2 in major cities to 6.6 per 1,000 in rural and remote Australia. Average age at death was 82.5 years in major cities and 65.3 years in very remote areas.

In summary, this study found that there are large numbers of Australians in rural and remote areas without primary healthcare access, with low utilisation of MBS, and a higher mortality rate as compared to major city areas. The rural and remote populations included in this study have high social economic disadvantage, high chronic disease rates, coupled with lower healthcare service provision.

It is recommended that ensuring all Australians have access to comprehensive primary healthcare services – GP, nursing, oral health, mental health and Aboriginal health – within a 60-minute drive time, be an initial benchmark for governments and service providers. Further, that the provision of these essential services to the locations shown in this report to have no or significantly low access be prioritised in government interventions.

### **1. Introduction**

Key points:

- > Rural and remote populations have consistently been shown to have lower levels of access to healthcare and are required to travel into inner regional and major city centres to access primary healthcare services. However, there has been no research that determines what is reasonable or equal access for those patients with an equal need in rural and remote Australia.
- > Reasonable access and health coverage is the fulfilment or obtainment of health services in an accessible, affordable and acceptable manner.
- The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) proposes that all Australians should be able to access primary healthcare within 60 minutes by motor vehicle travel.
- > Access to permanent primary healthcare for everyone in rural and remote Australia within 60 minutes may not be realistic. However, rural and remote populations should have regular access to other healthcare delivery options, such as visiting clinics, within 60 minutes and/or timely access to telehealth services. Regular access needs to be reflective of community needs.
- The literature indicates that, at a minimum, rural and remote populations should have access to general practitioners (GPs), nurses, dentists and mental health services within a 60-minute drive time, either via a permanent service, or a visiting clinic and/or have timely access to telehealth services.
- > However, there has been little research to determine how many rural and remote people have access to these services within a 60-minute timeframe, and the population concentrations that would benefit from additional healthcare provision to help reduce travel time to 60 minutes or less.

There is currently no agreed definition of reasonable or equitable access to health services, despite frequent references to this concept in policy documents and published literature.<sup>2</sup> This absence of a definition of a commonly accepted and discussed term in Australian healthcare<sup>3</sup> is problematic because funders and service delivery organisations, such as the Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS) of Australia, do not have a common reference point to judge their adherence to this concept.<sup>4</sup> This is especially difficult when making comparisons across diverse populations, including rural and remote as compared to major city, and Indigenous compared to non-Indigenous, populations.<sup>2</sup> This brief report is not intended to review the extensive literature that purports to address the various, and often conflicting, notions of equity, access and/or need. Rather, this report aims to provide a brief description of the relevance of the reasonable access principle of equity, and then test whether there is equal access to specific primary healthcare services for those in equal need within rural and remote Australia.

There is much research on equity within healthcare from various perspectives.<sup>5,6</sup> These perspectives on equity in healthcare are often associated with: equal access for those with an equal need; equal utilisation for those with an equal need; and equal or equitable outcomes, often measured by quality-adjusted life expectancy.<sup>2</sup> Equal access for those patients with an equal need requires that all patients with need also have equal opportunities to access healthcare.<sup>4</sup> Equal utilisation is associated with those with an equal need also making equal use of healthcare. This equity principle requires more proactive efforts by policymakers and relies on the premise that all Australians have equal access to service provision. The idea of equal outcomes is often measured by comparing population mortality and morbidity,<sup>2</sup> such as comparing rural and remote to major city populations.<sup>7</sup> Based on these definitions, we believe that equal access to healthcare for those in equal need should be used as the primary measure of healthcare equity in the rural and remote context. This is because it relates directly to healthcare provision, does not discriminate between people who are already ill purely due to exogenous factors, and it respects reasons why different people in equal need may use more or less of a given health service.

Rural and remote populations have consistently been shown to have lower levels of access to healthcare,<sup>8</sup> and are required to travel into inner regional and major city centres to access primary healthcare services.<sup>7</sup> However, there has been no research that determines what is reasonable or equal access for those patients with an equal need in rural and remote Australia.

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines reasonable health coverage as attained "when people actually obtain the health services they need and benefit from financial risk protection", whereas they define reasonable health access as "the opportunity or ability to do both of these things".<sup>9</sup> Hence, health coverage is not possible without reasonable access. Based on the literature, reasonable access has three dimensions, including physical accessibility, financial affordability and acceptability.<sup>10-12</sup>

The first principle, 'physical accessibility', is especially relevant to rural and remote populations and is fulfilled when high-quality services are readily available, and located close to people who need them. To achieve this, services need to be available and have the required inputs to provide the service, including structures, medical equipment, and health personnel, products and technologies. The Australian accreditation frameworks require a certain level of service quality; however, the tyranny of distance in rural and remote Australia is believed to impact the ability of people to physically access services within a reasonable traveling time.<sup>9</sup>

The second principle is 'financial affordability'. Financial affordability is in part improved by providing populations with access to Medicare and block-funded services. However, these funding streams do not consider patient out-of-pocket expenses, such as the costs of transportation and time away from work. Affordability is thus impacted by the wider health system funding arrangements and by household incomes. The last principle, 'acceptability', concerns a patient's willingness to accept and seek services. Patients may be less willing to access health services if the services do not consider community social and cultural factors, such as language, age, gender, or the ethnicity or religion of the people they serve.<sup>9</sup> This is especially important in a rural and remote context, which has a high proportion of Indigenous Australians. As such, reasonable access and health coverage is the fulfilment or obtainment of health services in an accessible, affordable and acceptable manner. Rural and remote residents should be able to access emergency care in less than 60 minutes and secondary care in less than two hours.<sup>13</sup> The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) proposes that all Australians should be able to access primary healthcare within 60 minutes by motor vehicle travel.<sup>3,14</sup> This time limit is consistent with research which found that 20% of rural Indigenous patients travel more than 30 minutes to seek Aboriginal Health services, but only 8% would travel longer than 60 minutes.<sup>15</sup>

Access to permanent primary healthcare for everyone in rural and remote Australia within 60 minutes may not be realistic. However, rural and remote populations should have regular access to other healthcare delivery options, such as visiting clinics within 60 minutes and/or timely access to telehealth services, especially in light of the social isolation restrictions due to COVID-19. Regular access needs to be reflective of community needs. For example, a clinic that traditionally visits a community monthly may need to visit more often depending on the changing community needs, such as in the case of a cancer patient needing chemotherapy or a young mother needing prenatal care. As such, policymakers should aim to provide primary healthcare access to all Australians within 60 minutes of motor vehicle travel, or when this option is not available, to use other efficient service delivery options, such as telehealth.

Reasonable or equitable access to primary healthcare is vitally important, however it is unclear what core primary healthcare services should be available to all Australians living in rural and remote communities. The AIHW defines primary healthcare as "typically the first contact an individual with a health concern has with the health system", with primary healthcare covering health services "not related to a hospital visit, including health promotion, prevention, early intervention, treatment of acute conditions, and management of chronic conditions".<sup>16</sup> The AIHW considers general practitioners (GPs), nurses, allied health professionals (undefined), midwives, pharmacists, dentists, and Aboriginal health practitioners as primary healthcare professionals.<sup>16</sup> This is consistent with a survey of 39 experts that found rural and remote populations should have access to primary healthcare services that provide: care of the sick and injured, mental health, maternal/child health, allied health, sexual/reproductive health, rehabilitation, and oral/ dental health services, and public health/illness prevention.<sup>17</sup> Furthermore, the WHO and other research defines core primary healthcare services as having capacity to provide GP, nursing, oral health and mental health services.<sup>18,19</sup>

As such, at a minimum, rural and remote populations should have access to GPs, nurses, dentists and mental health services within a 60-minute drive time, via a permanent service, a visiting clinic and/or timely access to telehealth services. Rural and remote populations have been identified as having a higher prevalence of chronic disease, as compared to major city populations, and have been identified as a high needs group, especially remote Indigenous populations.<sup>3</sup> However, there has been little research to determine how many rural and remote people have access to these services within a 60-minute timeframe, and which population concentrations would benefit from additional healthcare provision to help reduce access travel time to 60 minutes or less.

#### 1.1. Aims

The primary aims of this report are to:

- > determine how many Australians have access to primary healthcare within a 60-minute drive time; and
- > identify population concentrations that do not have access to primary healthcare within a 60-minute drive time.

The secondary aims of this report are to:

- determine whether rural and remote populations utilise medical services at a similar rate to major city populations; and
- determine whether rural and remote populations have equal mortality as compared to major cities.

### 2. Methods

Key points:

- The RFDS provides essential aeromedical and primary healthcare to rural and remote populations and visitors who are unable to access traditional services, including those provided through the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS).
- To determine how many Australians, have access to primary healthcare within a 60-minute drive time, we used 2016–17 population data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) to derive geographical population estimates. We then used the Service Planning and Operational Tool (SPOT) to map coverage of primary healthcare services across Australia.
- > To determine utilisation by remoteness area we used open access MBS statistics. Using the overall 2017–18 MBS utilisation values, we then used the 2016–17 ABS population data to determine utilisation per 100,000 population.
- To capture the utilisation of services outside of the MBS, which are block funded, we used RFDS episodes of care and patient use of medical services. To determine utilisation per patient and per 100,000 population, we used the 2016–17 ABS population data to determine population for the areas serviced by the RFDS.
- > To determine whether rural and remote populations have equal mortality rates as compared to major cities, we used the ABS 2017–18 age-standardised death rates by remoteness area.
- > We report our data as summary descriptive statistics. All statistical analysis was conducted in Excel (Microsoft). Healthcare locations were mapped using RFDS SPOT mapping software.

#### 2.1. Setting

This report includes populations throughout Australia, with a focus on the rural and remote areas serviced by the RFDS. The RFDS provides essential aeromedical and primary healthcare to rural and remote populations and visitors who are unable to access traditional services, including those provided through the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS). As with other literature,<sup>7,20,21</sup> the terms 'rural' and 'remote' include all areas outside Australia's major cities, including areas classified as inner and outer regional (RA2 and RA3, respectively) and remote or very remote (RA4 and RA5, respectively) by the Australian Statistical Geography Standard.<sup>22</sup>

#### 2.2. Data sources

For this report's primary aim, we used data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) to derive geographical population estimates for the year 2016–17. Consistent with the AIHW,<sup>16</sup> we defined 'primary healthcare' as including non-RFDS and RFDS GP, nursing, dental, mental health, and Aboriginal health services as registered on Health Direct (including visiting or fly-in fly-out clinics). For an extensive list, please refer to Heath Direct.<sup>23</sup> We then used the Service Planning and Operational Tool (SPOT) to map coverage of primary healthcare services across Australia, with a focus on rural and remote Australia. Working from a geographic distribution of 'demand (population)' and a set of healthcare facilities that provide cover for a range of services (in this case, primary healthcare services), SPOT calculates the proportion of demand covered by those facilities within a user-specified drive time.<sup>7</sup> Demand is represented by population levels in different categories, including the total Australian 2016–17 population.

To determine utilisation by remoteness area (major city, inner and outer regional, and remote and very remote) we used open access MBS statistics.<sup>24</sup> Using the overall 2017–18 MBS utilisation values, we then used the ABS 2016–17 Census data (last completed census) to determine utilisation per 100,000 population.

To capture the utilisation of services outside of the MBS which are block-funded, we used RFDS episodes of care and patient use of medical services. To determine utilisation per patient and per 100,000 population, we used the ABS 2016–17 population data to determine population for the areas serviced by the RFDS.

To determine whether rural and remote populations have equal mortality rates as compared to major cities, we used the ABS 2017–18 age-standardised death rates by remoteness area.<sup>25</sup> Deaths were recorded as deaths registered for the 2017 calendar year.<sup>26</sup> Infant deaths were calculated per 1,000 live births, with rates calculated for 2017–18 and then averaged by remoteness area. Average age at death was calculated for 2017–18 and then averaged by remoteness area.

#### 2.3. Statistical analysis

We report our data as summary descriptive statistics. All statistical analysis was conducted in Excel (Microsoft). Healthcare locations were mapped using RFDS SPOT mapping software.

### **3. Results**

Key points:

- > 42,805 people had no access to any primary healthcare services within a 60-minute drive time.
- There were 65,050 Australians who had no access to a GP within a 60-minute drive time.
- > There were 440,387 people without access to a nurse-led clinic within a 60-minute drive time.
- > There were 142,269 people without access to dental services within a 60-minute drive time.
- There were 106,848 people without access to mental health services within a 60-minute drive time.
- > There were 41,758 Indigenous Australians without access to Aboriginal health services within a 60-minute drive time
- The Australian MBS utilisation rate in 2017–18 was 1,712,763 service item numbers per 100,000 population. Utilisation per 100,000 population ranged from 1.7 million services in major cities to 1.3 million and 1.0 million services in remote and very remote regions, respectively, with major cities using the majority (72.1%) of Medicare services, and rural and remote using just 27.9%.
- > The RFDS provided an additional 148,749 individual primary healthcare medical services to rural and remote areas of Australia, resulting in an additional 615.0 services per 100,000 of the Australian population.
- > When calculating the average MBS utilisation by person, major cities and inner regional areas had an average of 17.2 and 17.7 respectively, as compared to 16.1, 13.0 and 10.1 in outer regional, remote, and very remote areas. However, when combined with the RFDS medical service utilisation, remote and very remote areas increased to 16.3 and 13.8, respectively.
- Infant deaths per 1,000 live births increased with remoteness, with 2.9 deaths in major cities compared to 5.1 in rural and remote Australia. Specifically, the infant death rate was 6.2 deaths per 1,000 births in remote and very remote Australia.
- The age-standardised death rate increased with remoteness from 5.2 deaths per 1,000 population in major cities to 6.6 per 1,000 population in rural and remote Australia. This reflects the average age at death, which was 82.5 years in major cities and 65.3 years in very remote areas.

In the year 2016–17 there was an estimated 24,190,907 people living in Australia, with 17,311,782 people in major cities, and 6,879,125 in rural and remote areas. All major cities had a least one primary healthcare service available. 91.1% (n=5,815,981) of people living in inner regional, outer regional, remote and very remote Australia had access to at least one primary healthcare service within a 60-minute drive time. However, 42,805 people had no access to any primary healthcare services within a 60-minute drive time. The geographical regions with the highest populations of people without access to primary healthcare services within a 60-minute drive time included East Pilbara (n=3,540; 8.3%), West Pilbara (n=3,495; 8.2%), Darling Downs (n=2,230; 5.2%), the Kimberley (n=2,230; 5.2%), and the Bourke–Cobar–Coonamble region (n=2,230; 5.2%) (see Table 1).

States and territories	Permanent population 2016 (%)	Population without any primary healthcare coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without GP coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without nursing clinic coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without dental services coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without mental health coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Aboriginal population without Aboriginal health coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)
Western Australia (WA)	2,555,978 (10.6)	16,301 (38.1)	27,043 (41.6)	81,069 (18.4)	52,522 (36.9)	48,397 (45.3)	9,428 (22.6)
Queensland (Qld)	4,845,152 (20.0)	10,882 (25.4)	11,590 (17.8)	59,092 (13.4)	19,814 (13.9)	17,110 (16.0)	7,468 (17.9)
Northern Territory (NT)	245,678 (1.0)	6,053 (14.1)	13,662 (21.0)	40,927 (9.3)	25,302 (17.8)	19,030 (17.8)	6,579 (15.8)
New South Wales (NSW)	7,732,858 (32.0)	4,365 (10.2)	5,428 (8.3)	8,439 (1.9)	15,761 (11.1)	10,452 (9.8)	1,378 (3.3)
South Australia (SA)	1,712,843 (7.1)	1,940 (4.5)	3,743 (5.8)	39,175 (8.9)	5,809 (4.1)	6,432 (6.0)	1,100 (2.6)
Tasmania (Tas)	522,414 (2.2)	1,210 (2.8)	1,342 (2.1)	124,012 (28.2)	7,711 (5.4)	2,779 (2.6)	13,439 (32.2)
Victoria (Vic)	6,173,172 (25.5)	2,054 (4.8)	2,242 (3.4)	87,673 (19.9)	15,350 (10.8)	2,648 (2.5)	2,366 (5.7)
Australian Capital Territory (ACT)	403,104 (1.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Australia	24,191,199 (100.0)	42,805 (0.2)	65,050 (0.3)	440,387 (1.8)	142,269 (0.6)	106,848 (0.4)	41,758 (0.2)
States and territories	Permanent population 2016 (%)	Population without any primary healthcare coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without GP coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without nursing clinic coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without dental services coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without mental health coverage within 60 minutes' drivet (%)	Aboriginal population without Aboriginal health coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)
Western Australia (WA)	2,555,978 (10.6)	16,301 (38.1)	27,043 (41.6)	81,069 (18.4)	52,522 (36.9)	48,397 (45.3)	9,428 (22.6)
Queensland (Qld)	4,845,152 (20.0)	10,882 (25.4)	11,590 (17.8)	59,092 (13.4)	19,814 (13.9)	17,110 (16.0)	7,468 (17.9)
Northern Territory (NT)	245,678 (1.0)	6,053 (14.1)	13,662 (21.0)	40,927 (9.3)	25,302 (17.8)	19,030 (17.8)	6,579 (15.8)
New South Wales (NSW)	7,732,858 (32.0)	4,365 (10.2)	5,428 (8.3)	8,439 (1.9)	15,761 (11.1)	10,452 (9.8)	1,378 (3.3)
South Australia (SA)	1,712,843 (7.1)	1,940 (4.5)	3,743 (5.8)	39,175 (8.9)	5,809 (4.1)	6,432 (6.0)	1,100 (2.6)
Tasmania (Tas)	522,414 (2.2)	1,210 (2.8)	1,342 (2.1)	124,012 (28.2)	7,711 (5.4)	2,779 (2.6)	13,439 (32.2)
Victoria (Vic)	6,173,172 (25.5)	2,054 (4.8)	2,242 (3.4)	87,673 (19.9)	15,350 (10.8)	2,648 (2.5)	2,366 (5.7)
Australian Capital Territory (ACT)	403,104 (1.7)	0.0) 0	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.0) 0	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Australia	24,191,199 (100.0)	42,805 (0.2)	65,050 (0.3)	440,387 (1.8)	142,269 (0.6)	106,848 (0.4)	41,758 (0.2)
Esperance (WA)	16,189 (3.7)	1,506 (3.5)	1,534 (2.4)	16,152 (3.7)	2,483 (1.7)	3,135 (2.9)	625 (1.5)
Katherine (WA)	20,707 (4.7)	1,488 (3.5)	2,964 (4.6)	19,974 (4.5)	4,180 (2.9)	6,713 (6.3)	896 (2.1)
Alice Springs (NT)	39,288 (8.9)	1,361 (3.2)	3,589 (5.5)	7,205 (1.6)	10,874 (7.6)	1,598 (1.5)	2,864 (6.9)

Table 1 Rural and remote regions with lowest levels of access to primary healthcare (RFDS and non-RFDS) within a 60-minute drive

States and territories	Permanent population 2016 (%)	Population without any primary healthcare coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without GP coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without nursing clinic coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without dental services coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Population without mental health coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)	Aboriginal population without Aboriginal health coverage within 60 minutes' drive† (%)
Wheat Belt-North (WA)	8,186 (1.8)	1,303 (3.0)	2,274 (3.5)	5,999 (1.4)	5,446 (3.8)	6,413 (6.0)	248 (0.6)
Central Highlands (Qld)	9,139 (2.1)	1,198 (2.8)	1,315 (2.0)	4,908 (1.1)	2,708 (1.9)	2,376 (2.2)	1,123 (2.7)
Mid West (WA)	9,667 (2.2)	1,157 (2.7)	1,477 (2.3)	4,855 (1.1)	6,329 (4.4)	2,233 (2.1)	907 (2.2)
Outback-North (NT)	29,315 (6.6)	1,066 (2.5)	1,978 (3.0)	4,991 (1.1)	3,211 (2.3)	1,075 (1.0)	325 (0.8)
Moree-Narrabri (NSW)	2,784 (0.6)	1,055 (2.5)	1,057 (1.6)	2,389 (0.5)	1,014 (0.7)	1,431 (1.3)	112 (0.3)
Charters Towers-Ayr-Ingham (Qld)	6,861 (1.5)	1,051 (2.5)	1,059 (1.6)	5,885 (1.3)	1,721 (1.2)	1,721 (1.6)	47 (0.1)
Outback-North-East (SA)	11,277 (2.5)	1,050 (2.5)	1,069 (1.6)	7,493 (1.7)	3,211 (2.3)	4,707 (4.4)	853 (2.0)
Eyre Peninsula and South West (SA)	36,922 (8.3)	890 (2.1)	1,765 (2.7)	34,182 (7.8)	2,598 (1.8)	1,725 (1.6)	247 (0.6)
Far North (Qld)	20,139 (4.5)	874 (2.0)	1,209 (1.9)	6,431 (1.5)	1,573 (1.1)	1,120 (1.0)	5,247 (12.6)
East Arnhem (NT)	7,391 (1.7)	809 (1.9)	3,010 (4.6)	809 (0.2)	3,010 (2.1)	1,948 (1.8)	806 (1.9)
Wheat Belt-South (WA)	5,232 (1.2)	624 (1.5)	1,152 (1.8)	3,047 (0.7)	3,923 (2.8)	5,219 (4.9)	163 (0.4)
Barkly (NT)	6,090 (1.4)	517 (1.2)	914 (1.4)	4,552 (1.0)	2,674 (1.9)	1,951 (1.8)	407 (1.0)
Albany (WA)	2,953 (0.7)	478 (1.1)	1,376 (2.1)	1,848 (0.4)	2,926 (2.1)	2,937 (2.7)	55 (0.1)
Broken Hill and Far West (NSW)	2,527 (0.6)	472 (1.1)	472 (0.7)	1,173 (0.3)	2,185 (1.5)	472 (0.4)	102 (0.2)
Lower Murray (NSW)	2,384 (0.5)	398 (0.9)	428 (0.7)	1,668 (0.4)	442 (0.3)	1,004 (0.9)	39 (0.1)
Rockhampton (Qld)	335 (0.1)	317 (0.7)	317 (0.5)	335 (0.1)	318 (0.2)	319 (0.3)	5 (0.0)
Biloela (Qld)	1,548 (0.3)	291 (0.7)	291 (0.4)	1,548 (0.4)	1,379 (1.0)	430 (0.4)	52 (0.1)
Burnett (Qld)	251 (0.1)	183 (0.4)	202 (0.3)	251 (0.1)	199 (0.1)	198 (0.2)	3 (0.0)
Others	22,065 (5.0)	3,666 (8.6)	7,745 (11.9)	225,389 (51.2)	29,904 (21.0)	10,634 (1.0)	16,371 (39.2)
Total	443,170 (100.0)	42,805 (9.7)	65,050 (14.7)	440,387 (99.4)	142,269 (32.1)	106,848 (24.1)	41,758 (9.4)
Total	443,170 (100.0)	42,805 (9.7)	65,050 (14.7)	440,387 (99.4)	142,269 (32.1)	106,848 (24.1)	

\* Excluding any city or township areas.

+ That is, 60 minutes' drive from place of residence to permanently located services in metropolitan, rural or remote areas. This excludes clinic waiting times and consideration of clinic patient workload capacity; for example, a health service may not have capacity to see additional patients. While these communities may have access to primary healthcare support, they had the highest proportions of rural and remote patients who needed to travel more than 60 minutes to access this support.

Note: Percentages are reported to one decimal point, and thus may not sum perfectly to 100%.

There were specific areas without GP, nursing, dental, mental health, and Aboriginal health services. Specifically, 65,050 Australians had no access to a GP within a 60-minute drive time. The majority of people without access to a GP were located in Western Australia (n=27,043; 41.6%), Queensland (n=11,590; 17.8%), and the Northern Territory (n=13,662; 21.0%). The regions of the Kimberly (n=4,902; 7.5%), West Pilbara (n=4,752; 7.3%), East Pilbara (n=3,690; 5.7%), and Alice Springs (n=3,589; 5.5%) had the most people without GP access.

There were 440,387 people without access to a nurse-led clinic within a 60-minute drive time. Of all Australians without access to a nurse-led clinic, the majority were located in Tasmania (n=124,012; 28.2%), Victoria (n=87,673; 19.9%), and Western Australia (n=81,069; 18.4%). The geographical regions with the highest populations of people without access to nurse-led clinics within a 60-minute drive time included the Eyre Peninsula (n=34,182; 7.8%), Katherine (n=19,974; 4.5%), East Pilbara (n=18,589; 4.2%), West Pilbara (n=11,985; 2.7%), and Esperance (n=16,152; 3.7%).

There were 142,269 people without access to dental services within a 60-minute drive time. Of all Australians without access to dental services, the majority were located in Western Australia (n=52,522; 36.9%), the Northern Territory (n=25,302; 17.8%), and Queensland (n=19,814; 13.9%). The geographical regions with the highest populations of people without access to dental services within a 60-minute drive time included West Pilbara (n=11,570; 8.1%), Alice Springs (n=10,874; 7.6%), the Kimberly (n=7,426; 5.2%), the region of Bourke, Cobar and Coonamble (n=6,779; 4.8%), and the Mid-West (n=6,329; 4.4%).

There were 106,848 people without access to mental health services within a 60-minute drive time. Of all Australians without access to mental health services, the majority were located in Western Australia (n=48,397; 45.3%), the Northern Territory (n=19,030; 17.8%), and Queensland (n=17,110; 16.0%). The geographical regions with the highest populations of people without access to mental health services within a 60-minute drive time included West Pilbara (n=11,570; 10.8%), Daly-Tiwi-West Arnhem (n=6,820; 6.4%), Katherine (n=6,713; 6.3%), Wheat Belt-North (n=6,413; 6.0%), and the Kimberly (n=6,259; 5.9%).

There were 41,758 Indigenous Australians without access to Aboriginal health services within a 60-minute drive time. Of all Indigenous Australians without access to Aboriginal health services, the majority were located in Tasmania (n= 13,439; 32.2%), Western Australia (n=9,428; 22.6%), and Queensland (n= 7,468; 17.9%). The geographical regions with the highest populations of people without access to Aboriginal health services within a 60-minute drive time included Braddon (Tas) (n=7,391; 17.7%), Far North (n=5,247; 12.6%), Bass (Tas) (n=3,356; 8.0%), Kimberly (NT) (n=2,988; 7.2%), and Alice Springs (n=2,864; 6.9%).

To help with operational planning we have included geographical mapping of primary healthcare provision, divided by each RFDS section and operation. This is aimed at determining local areas without any GP, nursing, dental, mental health, or Aboriginal health service availability (see Appendices 1–6), in which the RFDS could consider providing services.

The Australian MBS utilisation rate in 2017–18 was 1,712,763 service item numbers per 100,000 people (Table 2). Utilisation per 100,000 population ranged from 1.7 million services in major cities to 1.3 million and 1.0 million services in remote and very remote regions respectively, with major cities using the majority (72.1%) of Medicare services, and rural and remote using just 27.9%.

Table 2 Patient utilisation of the Medicare Benefits Schedule and RFDS primary healthcare services, in the financial year 2017–18

									-	
1,713,378	615	1,712,763	20.6	3.5	1,720,275	148,749	17.1	414,166,663	24,190,907	Australia
1,018,537	3,690	1,014,847	13.8	3.7	754,787		10.1	2,045,434	201,551	Very remote
1,323,492	0,000	1,298,143	16.3	0	001.000	148,749	13.0	3,808,778	293,402	Remote
1,613,498	0F 340	1,613,498	16.1	 ଫ ଫ	065 188		16.1	32,929,973	2,040,906	Outer regional
1,767,395	0	1,767,395	17.7	0	0	0	17.7	76,762,653	4,343,266	Inner regional
1,724,951	0	1,724,951	17.2	0	0	0	17.2	298,619,825	17,311,782	Major city
Total per 100,000	Per 100,000 RFDS	Per 100,000 MBS	Combined total average per person	Average RFDS per population	RFDS medical services provided	RFDS episodes of care*	Average per population	Number of MBS services	Population	

\* This includes RFDS GP, nursing, dental and telehealth clinics. RFDS mental health services were not included as the service commenced in January 2019, and data for a full year were unavailable.

The RFDS provided an additional 148,749 individual primary healthcare medical services to rural and remote areas of Australia, resulting in an additional 615.0 services per 100,000 of the Australian population. When calculating the average number of MBS utilisations by person, major cities and inner regional areas had an average of 17.2 and 17.7, respectively, compared to 16.1, 13.0 and 10.1 in outer regional, remote and very remote areas. However, when combined with the RFDS medical service utilisation, remote and very remote areas increased to 16.3 and 13.8 respectively. These figures are presented in detail in Table 2.

In 2017–18 there were 160,909 deaths in Australia. The average age at death was 81.8 years. Infant deaths per 1,000 live births increased with remoteness, with 2.9 deaths in major cities compared to 5.1 in rural and remote Australia. Specifically, the infant death rate was 6.2 deaths per 1,000 births in remote and very remote Australia. The age-standardised death rate increased with remoteness from 5.2 deaths per 1,000 population in major cities to 6.6 per 1,000 population in rural and remote Australia. Average age at death was 82.5 years in major cities and 65.3 years in very remote areas (Table 3).

### Table 3 Medicare utilisation and population deaths by remoteness, in the financial year 2017–18

	Population	Number of Medicare services (%)	Per 100,000 population
Major city	17,311,782	298,619,825 (72.1)	1,724,951
Inner regional	4,343,266	76,762,653 (18.5)	1,767,395
Outer regional	2,040,906	32,929,973 (7.9)	1,613,498
Remote	293,402	3,808,778 (0.9)	1,298,143
Very remote	201,551	2,045,434 (0.5)	1,014,847
Australia	24,190,907	414,166,663 (100.0)	1,712,763

	Population	Deaths	Infant deaths (per 1,000 live births)	Standardised death rate (per 1,000 population)	Average age at death
Major city	17,311,782	105,060	2.9	5.2	82.5
Inner regional	4,343,266	36,365	3.6	5.9	81.5
Outer regional	2,040,906	16,149	4.1	6.1	79.3
Remote	293,402	1,792	4.8	6.4	74.8
Very remote	201,551	1,054	7.7	7.9	65.3
Australia	24,190,907	160,420	3.2	5.5	81.8

Note: Percentages are reported to one decimal point, and thus may not sum perfectly to 100%.

### 4. Discussion

Key points:

- To achieve reasonable or equitable access to primary healthcare, people should have, at a minimum, GP, nursing, oral health and mental health services accessible within 60 minutes, via a permanent service, a visiting clinic, and/or timely access to telehealth services.
- > Although we found that most people had access to a primary healthcare service, many people in those regions had limited access to GPs (n=65,050; 14.7%), nurse-led clinics (n=440,387; 99.4%), dentists (n=142,269; 32.1%), mental health services (n=106,848; 24.1%), and Aboriginal health services (n= 41,758; 9.4%). This finding is consistent with research demonstrating that many rural and remote areas have poor provision of GPs, nurses, dentists, and mental health workers.
- These results are concerning, as a country that prides itself on its healthcare is at the same time not providing the "highest attainable standard of health", which is "one of the fundamental rights of every human being without distinction of race, religion, political belief, economic or social condition".<sup>1</sup> By not providing basic primary healthcare, we are not fulfilling this basic human right to all Australians.
- > An undersupply of acute and subacute hospital services, and to a lesser extent, access to aged care services, has been commonly reported in rural and remote areas. Geographical accessibility and the need to travel to access health services, often over large distances, is a major challenge, particularly for older people.
- > We found that rural and remote Australians use the MBS at a much lower rate than people living in major cities. Many rural and remote areas of Australia do not have access to services provided through the MBS, and as such utilise fewer of these services. In addition, the out-of-pocket costs incurred whilst seeking these services, such as travel and productivity losses, may be a further factor in lower utilisation rates.
- > Rural and remote populations have a disproportionately higher level of socioeconomic disadvantage compared to major city areas, a factor also associated with increased avoidable mortality and higher rates of chronic disease. It appears that those with the highest need are accessing and utilising primary healthcare services at lower rates.

- To improve access or healthcare availability, existing policies have included offering primary healthcare infrastructure grants, increasing generalist training in rural and remote areas, increasing skilled immigration, and encouraging provider substitution. There have been some problems with these policy interventions, such as an over-reliance on overseas-trained clinicians, time delays, a lack of national coordination, and a lack of a focus on retention of the rural and remote workforce.
- > Future policies, aimed at improving retention of health workers in rural and remote Australia, should consider supporting: interventions that employ/admit students from rural and remote backgrounds; the establishment of rural and remotely located medical schools with a focus on training rural students; clear career educational progression; enhanced scope of practice; and improving living conditions for the rural and remote workforce.

This report found that all people in major cities (100.0%) had access to at least one primary healthcare service within a 60-minute drive from their place of residence. While the majority of people residing in rural and remote locations also had such access, almost 9% did not have access to any type of primary healthcare service. However, there are many remote populations without any access to at least one primary healthcare service, such as the Pilbara region, with 7,035 people without access. As such these remote areas have low healthcare service provision, coupled with high social economic disadvantage, and high chronic disease rates. This is concerning, given that if COVID-19 infection (or any major disease) reached these areas the ability to identify early would be significantly impacted, which in turn would led to compounded worse outcomes for these communities.

We found that rural and remote populations utilise medical services at a much lower rate compared to people in major cities (1.0 million per 100,000 versus 1.7 million, respectively), with rural and remote populations using just 27.9% of Medicare services. However, when combined with RFDS service utilisation, major cities and inner regional areas have an average utilisation per patient of 17.2 and 17.7, compared with outer regional, remote and very remote areas, which have 16.1, 16.3 and 13.8 respectively. Furthermore, it was found that the rate of infant deaths increased with remoteness, with 2.9 deaths per 1,000 live births in major cities compared to 5.1 in rural and remote Australia. Similarly, the age-standardised death rate also increased with remoteness, from 5.2 deaths per 1,000 population in major cities to 6.6 deaths per 1,000 population in rural and remote Australia, reflecting average age at death differences between major cities and very remote areas (82.5 versus 65.3 years, respectively).

While the majority (91.1%) of rural and remote areas had access to at least one primary healthcare service, including non-RFDS and RFDS GP, nursing, dental, mental health services, and Aboriginal health services, within a 60-minute drive time, significant gaps were observed. For these populations, 14.7% had no access to a GP within a 60-minute drive (n=65,050), 99.4% to a nurse-led clinic (n=440,387; 99.4%), 32.1% to a dentist (n=142,269), 24.1% to a mental health service (n=106,848), and 41,758 Indigenous Australians to an Aboriginal health service. These findings are consistent with research demonstrating that many rural and remote areas have poor clinical provision of GPs, nurses, dentists and mental health workers.<sup>27,28</sup>

The current study is the first to show population areas without reasonable access to primary healthcare, and is consistent with a survey of 454 community members and 52 clinicians living or working in rural and remote areas.<sup>28,29</sup> The surveyed community members stated that access to general health services was the most important health consideration, with almost one-third of responses (32.5%) identifying general health access as a key priority.<sup>29</sup> The respondents believed health expenditure should be prioritised towards expanding access to health services in country areas. The clinicians stated that more resources should be invested into health literacy education, the provision of mental health services, and to improving health infrastructure.<sup>28</sup> Our findings, combined with previous findings, indicate that primary healthcare access and clinical service provision continues to be a problem in rural and remote Australia.

To achieve reasonable or equitable access to primary healthcare, people should have, at a minimum, access to GP, nursing, oral health and mental health services, within 60 minutes, provided via a permanent service or a visiting clinic, and/or timely access to telehealth services.<sup>18</sup> However, as our results demonstrate, there are many communities throughout Australia without these services. Furthermore, these figures do not account for actual clinical numbers in these areas, or the ability for current clinics/services to provide treatment. This is concerning, as a country that prides itself on its healthcare, is at the same time not providing the "highest attainable standard of health", which is "one of the fundamental rights of every human being without distinction of race, religion, political belief, economic or social condition".<sup>1</sup> By not providing basic primary healthcare, we are not fulfilling this basic human right to all Australians.

Many Australians living in rural and remote areas need to travel hundreds of kilometres to access health services, or alternatively wait for health services to visit, such as the RFDS.<sup>30</sup> An undersupply of acute and subacute hospital services, and to a lesser extent, access to aged care services,<sup>8</sup> has been commonly reported in rural and remote areas.<sup>31</sup> Geographical accessibility and the need to travel to access health services, often over large distances, is a major challenge, particularly for older people.<sup>32</sup> Many older patients require assistance from family members or other forms of transport to access services,<sup>33</sup> which is not always feasible in rural and remote areas, potentially leading some patients to only seek help at crisis point.<sup>34</sup> A recent study found that a large proportion of people, especially older people from rural and remote regions, need to drive for more than 60 minutes to reach health services, including hospitals, emergency departments, primary healthcare, and rehabilitation and management services.<sup>35</sup> This difficulty is highlighted in Figure 1, which details a metropolitan and a very remote patient primary healthcare journey.

#### Figure 1 Comparison between a major city and a very remote patient journey



The Australian Atlas of Healthcare Variation (the Atlas) series has been designed to show the variation and inequities in the way healthcare is delivered and utilised. The Atlas uses data sourced from four national health datasets, including MBS data, National Hospital Morbidity Database, National Perinatal Data Collection, and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme data.<sup>36</sup> The Atlas series often demonstrates that rural and remote populations have higher rates of disease, coupled with lower rates of service utilisation. For example, The Second Australian Atlas of Healthcare Variation<sup>37</sup> indicates that rural and remote populations, especially Indigenous Australians, are at greater risk of having a myocardial infarction (MI) (heart attack) and atrial fibrillation (abnormal heart rhythm). The Third Australian Atlas of Healthcare Variation<sup>36</sup> found that rates of cardiac tests, imaging and standard echocardiography were significantly higher in major cities as compared to rural and remote areas. As rural and remote people are at greater risk of heart disease, there appears to be a maldistribution of essential preventative services.<sup>3</sup> This maldistribution is further highlighted by the RFDS aeromedical retrieval numbers for MI, which may have been reduced with equitable screening.<sup>38</sup>

Consistent with the Atlas, we found that rural and remote Australians use MBS at a much lower rate than people living in major cities. However, many rural and remote areas of Australia do not have access to the MBS, and as such utilise less Medicare services because they are required to travel, consequently incurring greater out-of-pocket expenses.<sup>39</sup> However, as Medicare is designed to provide equitable access to healthcare for all Australians,<sup>40</sup> MBS utilisation is often used as a proxy in rural and remote areas as an indicator of service provision without considering non-Medicare service utilisation, including block-funded organisations such as the RFDS. Future research should consider rural and remote population use of non-Medicare and Medicare services, to get a clear picture of service utilisation and frequency. This would allow comparisons between rural and remote and major city populations.

We found that the mortality rates are higher in rural and remote areas as compared to major cities (6.6 versus 5.2 deaths per 1,000 population), where access to healthcare is higher. Poorer access to health care, coupled with higher infant mortality rates (5.1 versus 2.9 per 1,000 children), is believed to contribute to lower life expectancy in rural and remote areas as compared to major cities (65.3 versus 82.5 years, respectively).

The leading cause of death in rural and remote Australia is cardiovascular disease (CVD), and specifically MI and stroke.<sup>3,35</sup> Higher CVD mortality rates in rural and remote areas have been attributed to barriers in accessing optimal health services, higher costs, difficulties in sourcing fresh food, higher proportions of Indigenous residents, and geographical isolation.<sup>41</sup> This is consistent with our results that indicated that 126,767 people in rural and remote areas (of whom 37.7% are Indigenous) do not have access to hospital services, such as emergency departments. This is concerning as early diagnosis and management is required for MI and stroke, with delays greater than 60 minutes linked to increased death rates.<sup>42,43</sup>

We found that rural and remote areas had higher infant mortality rates. Research has demonstrated that rural and remote mothers are more likely to be teenagers, to be Indigenous, and to have had a previous premature birth, prolonged ruptured membrane, and antenatal corticosteroid.<sup>44</sup> Mothers from major cities, in comparison, were more likely to have assisted conception and a caesarean section. Mothers from major cities were more likely to give birth in a tertiary hospital, with rural mothers having significantly (p<0.01) higher rates of infant mortality.<sup>45</sup> Certain maternal behaviours are associated with increased risk for adverse perinatal outcomes, such as preterm birth and small-for-gestational-age infants.<sup>46</sup> It is believed that certain maternal and paternal behaviours, such as smoking and alcohol use, and other factors, such as late initiation of antenatal care, are higher in rural and remote areas due to socioeconomic disparities.<sup>47</sup> Furthermore, poor pregnancy outcomes are associated with earlier and higher prevalence of hypertension, obesity, coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus, autoimmune thyroid disease and some forms of cancer.<sup>46,48</sup> All of these conditions are significantly higher in rural and remote populations.<sup>3</sup>

Rural and remote populations have a disproportionately higher level of socioeconomic disadvantage compared to major city areas, a factor also associated with increased avoidable mortality and higher rates of chronic disease.<sup>3</sup> Like remoteness, this disparity is likely to be multifactorial and influenced by lower education levels and poorer health literacy, higher rates of health-damaging behaviours, fewer preventative measures being undertaken, and reduced access to healthcare services.<sup>3</sup> It appears that those with the highest need, are accessing and utilising primary healthcare services at lower rates.

Future policy interventions are required to address areas without access to basic primary healthcare services. These interventions should be aimed at providing enough core and sustainable primary healthcare services to these rural and remote areas. To improve access or healthcare availability, existing policies have included primary healthcare infrastructure grants (such as the National Rural and Remote Health Infrastructure Program), increasing generalist training in rural and remote areas, increasing skilled immigration, and provider substitution (such as nurse practitioners rather than medical officers; and dental training for rural generalists). There have been some problems with these policy interventions, such as an over-reliance on overseas trained clinicians, time delays, a lack of national coordination, and a lack of a focus on retention of the rural and remote workforce.<sup>49</sup> Whilst current empirical evidence to support such approaches is limited, a carefully considered and well-supported combination of approaches is likely to provide the best outcomes.<sup>50</sup>

The WHO has published a comprehensive set of strategies to encourage health workers to stay in remote and rural areas. These include modifying the ways students are selected and educated, while creating better working and living conditions. Specifically, this should include remodelling rural and remote education, undertaking regulatory interventions, offering financial incentives and improving personal and professional support.<sup>51</sup> These inventions are summarised in Table 4, and include a range of interventions that can be combined to improve the retention of the health workforce in rural and remote areas. Future policies, aimed at improving retention of health workers in rural and remote Australia, should consider supporting:

- > interventions that employ/admit students from rural and remote and Indigenous backgrounds;
- > the establishment of rural and remotely located medical schools with a focus on training rural students;
- clear career educational progression, such as supporting a nurses' aide in becoming a registered nurse;
- enhanced scope of practice, such as increased medication-prescribing capabilities for nurse practitioners; and
- > improved living conditions for the rural and remote workforce, such as the provision of appropriate housing, access to appropriate schooling for families of remote health workers, and support for partners of health workers to find jobs.

Intervention type	Intervention	Quality of the evidence
Education	Students from a rural and remote background	There is reliable evidence that a rural background increases the likelihood of long-term practice in rural and remote areas. <sup>52-55</sup>
	Health professional schools outside of major cities	There is some limited research that medical schools located in rural areas are more likely to produce clinicians that practice in these areas. <sup>50</sup>
	Clinical rotations in rural areas during studies	There is some limited research that exposure to rural communities during studies influences future practice locations. <sup>50,56-58</sup>
	Curricula that reflect rural health issues	There is evidence that education focusing on primary care or a generalist perspective is conducive to producing practitioners willing and able to work in rural areas. <sup>59-61</sup>
	Continuous professional development for rural health workers	There is limited direct evidence on the effect of continuing education programs on retention. However, there is much supportive evidence that if delivered in rural areas, and if focused on the expressed needs of rural health workers, these programs are likely to improve the competence of rural health workers, make them feel like they are a part of a professional group, and increase their desire to remain and practise in those areas. <sup>62</sup>
Regulatory interventions	Enhanced scope of practice	It is unclear whether expanded scope of practice helps with workforce retention, however the evidence does show that it helps with increased job satisfaction. This was highlighted in an Australian study that found that enrolled nurses who were allowed to prescribe reported higher levels of job satisfaction than non-medication- endorsed nurses. <sup>63,64</sup>
	Different types of health workers	There is good evidence that suggests that different types of health workers, such as clinical officers and health assistants, contribute to improved health outcomes in rural and remote communities. <sup>64</sup>
	Compulsory service	Mandatory deployment of health workers in remote or rural areas for a certain period of time has been a popular intervention. However, few evaluations have been conducted in relation to the retention of health workers either during or post their obligated service period. There have been studies that revealed that physicians raised serious complaints over the management of their compulsory service scheme, however they did feel that the experience improved their competencies and had been rewarding overall. <sup>65,66</sup>
	Subsidised education for return of service	Normally a subsidised education involves health students entering into a contract whereby they receive some sort of financial incentive (either scholarships for their education, or loans to pay back their education, or direct financial incentives), and in exchange they commit to serve in a rural area for a certain period of time. A systematic review analysed the effectiveness of financial incentives given in return for medical service in rural areas. <sup>67</sup> In 18 studies there were good retention rates, yet numerous studies included in this systematic review had serious methodological flaws and therefore these findings should be interpreted with some caution.
Financial incentives	Appropriate financial incentives	Financial incentives are regularly used to encourage health workers to move and hopefully stay in rural and remote areas. However, there are few comprehensive evaluations of the effectiveness of financial incentives in rural and remote areas, with the evidence suggesting mixed results. In Australia, financial incentives were established for long-serving physicians in remote and rural areas and the amount paid varied according to location and length of service. <sup>51,68</sup>

# Table 4 Evidence-based recommendations to improve the retention of the rural and remote workforce

Intervention type	Intervention	Quality of the evidence
Personal and professional support	Better living conditions	There is a lack of direct evidence that improving rural health infrastructure and living conditions improves retention. <sup>69</sup> However, studies have shown that better accommodation is one of the most important factors influencing clinicians to remain in rural areas. <sup>70</sup>
	Safe and supportive working environment	The literature on improving the working environment and retention is limited, however a Cochrane systematic review showed that "questionnaire-based surveys suggest that professional and personal support may also influence health professionals' choice to work in underserved areas. Professional development, ongoing training and style of health service management were important factors influencing retention of health professionals in underserved areas". <sup>71</sup> Health professionals are less likely to practise in facilities that are in a state of disrepair and that do not have basic supplies, such as running water, gloves, elementary basic drugs and rudimentary equipment. <sup>70,72</sup>
	Outreach support	There is limited evidence that clinical support outreach programs improve retention. However, there is some evidence from observational studies that these programs improve competencies and job satisfaction of rural health workers. <sup>73-75</sup>
	Career development programs	There is limited evidence that providing a career ladder (i.e. providing a sequence of roles from junior to senior ranks) can help retain health workers. However, evidence from surveys shows that clear career prospects are important factors for rural and remote health workers. <sup>76</sup> This may include a nursing ladder, consisting of an entry point of nurse aide, and progressing to patient care technician, enrolled nurse and registered nurse.
	Professional networks	There is some evidence that shows that rural professional associations increase retention. For example, the 'Dr Doc' program launched in South Australia has reportedly reduced the number of rural physicians who want to leave their practice. <sup>77</sup>
	Public recognition measures	There is no literature that shows public recognition increases retention, with much of the non-evidence-based literature associated with case studies. However, it is likely that simple public recognition measures can go a long way in raising the status and morale of rural health workers and thus contribute to their retention. <sup>51</sup>

Source: Adapted from World Health Organization. Increasing access to health workers in remote and rural areas through improved retention, 2010. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44369/9789241564014\_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>. Accessed 12 July, 2019.

### 5. Limitations

A limitation of this report, is that it used registration data from a single source – the Health Direct database. Registration with Health Direct is voluntary and is initiated by individual health services. While Health Direct was believed to be the most robust database of healthcare services at the time of publication, some services may not have been registered, and therefore not included in the data provided through Health Direct.

This study was limited in that health service utilisation did not account for the clinical capacity of the primary healthcare provider to see additional patients; rural and remote patients wait significantly longer than major city patients to receive an appointment and see a clinician,<sup>3</sup> indicating that more clinicians are needed to cover the current available services. A further limitation was that utilisation only included MBS utilisation and did not cover other block funded service providers, other than the RFDS. Furthermore, frequency of utilisation and dose were not considered. This study did not differentiate whether the RFDS clinic was permanent or fly-in fly-out, or the distribution of the workforce within the rural and remote geographic regions studied.

### 6. Conclusion & Recommendations

This study found that 42,000 Australians do not have access to primary healthcare services within a 60-minute drive time of their place of residence. Our health system does not provide equitable access to primary healthcare for patients with an equal need in rural and remote locations. Further, there is lower utilisation of Medicare services by rural and remote Australians compared to people living in major cities. Similarly, rural and remote Australians have higher mortality rates compared to people living in major cities.

The impact of lack of equitable access to healthcare services is further highlighted in light of the COVID-19 pandemic which has seen regular primary health care reduced and disparity in services exacerbated. Populations in these areas have high rates of conditions that contribute to poorer COVID-19 outcomes, such as diabetes, renal disease, and hypertension. As such, identification and subsequent patient outcomes from COVID-19 could be significantly worse.

This report recommends that governments ensure all Australians have access to comprehensive primary healthcare services – GP, nursing, oral health, mental health and Aboriginal health – by adopting the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare's benchmark of service within a 60-minute drive time. Further, it is recommended that governments prioritise the provision of these essential services to the locations shown to have no or significantly low access to existing services.

This report has taken the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare's simple measure of 60-minute drive time to demonstrate population areas of Australia where there is not reasonable access to primary healthcare services. Further work should be undertaken to develop a more comprehensive definition and baseline measure for what constitutes equitable and reasonable access to primary healthcare. In addition to the 60-minute drive time, consideration should be given to other accessibility factors, timeliness, and the financial affordability, cultural safety and acceptability of services. Establishing such a minimum standard would be of immense value to policy makers, funders and service delivery organisations to provide a common reference point for the services Australians should reasonably expect to receive, no matter where they live.

Future research should also consider the capacity of non-Medicare-funded primary healthcare services, such as RFDS services an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services to provide timely services to patients in rural and remote Australia. Research should consider: the frequency of service provision; numbers of clinicians providing services; the types of services provided; patient utilisation of services; and importantly the health needs of underserved specific communities reflective of chronic disease prevalence. A nationally agreed standard or benchmark for care will advance improved health outcomes for Australians who currently get sicker, and die earlier, because they have less access to care. A national plan to address priority regions and populations should accompany agreement on equitable access to care.

### References

- World Health Organisation. Health is a fundamental human right. World Health Organisation,. <u>https://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/statements/fundamental-human-right/en/</u>. Published 2017. Accessed 11 July 2019.
- 2. Oliver A, Mossialos E. Equity of access to health care: outlining the foundations for action. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2004;58(8):655-658.
- **3.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2018. Australia's health series no. 16. AUS 221. Canberra AIHW;2018.
- 4. Ward PR. The relevance of equity in health care for primary care: creating and sustaining a 'fair go, for a fair innings'. Quality in primary care. 2009;17(1):49-54.
- 5. Mooney GH. Equity in health care: confronting the confusion. Effective health care. 1983;1(4):179-185.
- 6. Culyer AJ. Equity some theory and its policy implications. Journal of medical ethics. 2001;27(4):275-283.
- Gardiner FW, Teoh N, Coleman M, et al. Aeromedical retrievals of people for mental health care and the low level of clinical support in rural and remote Australia The Medical journal of Australia. 2019; 211 (8): 351-356
- 8. van Gaans D, Dent E. Issues of accessibility to health services by older Australians: a review. Public Health Reviews. 2018;39(1):20.
- Evans DB, Hsu J, Boerma T. Universal health coverage and universal access. World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/91/8/13-125450/en/</u>. Published 2013. Accessed 10 July, 2019.
- Tanahashi T. Health service coverage and its evaluation. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 1978;56(2):295-303.
- Shengelia B, Tandon A, Adams OB, Murray CJ. Access, utilization, quality, and effective coverage: an integrated conceptual framework and measurement strategy. Soc Sci Med. 2005;61(1):97-109.
- Andersen RM, McCutcheon A, Aday LA, Chiu GY, Bell R. Exploring dimensions of access to medical care. Health services research. 1983;18(1):49-74.
- **13.** British Columbia. Standards of accessibility and guidelines for provision of sustainable acute care services by health authorities. British Columbia,. <u>http://www.health.gov.bc.ca/library/publications/year/2002/acute\_accessibility.pdf</u>. Published 2002. Accessed 26 June, 2019.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Access to primary health care relative to need for Indigenous Australians. Cat. no. IHW 128. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare;2014.
- **15.** Panaretto KS, Dellit A, Hollins A, et al. Understanding patient access patterns for primary health-care services for Aboriginal and Islander people in Queensland: a geospatial mapping approach. Australian journal of primary health. 2017;23(1):37-45.
- Australian institute of Health and Welfare. Primary health care in Australia. Australian institute of Health and Welfare,. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/primary-health-care/primary-health-care</u> in-australia/contents/about-primary-health-care. Published 2016. Accessed 10 July 2019.
- Thomas SL, Wakerman J, Humphreys JS. What core primary health care services should be available to Australians living in rural and remote communities? BMC family practice. 2014;15:143.
- The World Health Organisation. Primary health care: closing the gap between public health and primary care through integration. The World Health Organisation,. <u>https://www.who.int/docs/ default-source/primary-health-care-conference/public-health.pdf</u>. Published 2018. Accessed 10 July, 2019.

- **19.** Thomas SL, Wakerman J, Humphreys JS. Ensuring equity of access to primary health care in rural and remote Australia what core services should be locally available? Int J Equity Health. 2015;14:111-111.
- Teoh N, Bishop L, Gardiner F. Royal Flying Doctor Service: 90 years of unparalleled service. MJA InSight. 2018(39).
- 21. Gardiner FW, Hewat C, Richardson A, Crockett J, Lucas RM, Laverty. M. Rural and remote provision of social workers, speech pathologists, audiologists, and dietitians. MJA 2019;In review.
- 22. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Statistical Geography Standard (ASGS): Volume 5 - Remoteness Structure, July 2016. Australian Bureau of Statistics, . <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/1270.0.55.005Main%20Features15July%20</u> 2016?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=1270.0.55.005&issue=July%20 2016&num=&view=. Published 2016. Accessed 2nd May, 2018.
- 23. Health Direct Australia. Who we are. <u>https://about.healthdirect.gov.au/</u>. Published 2018. Accessed 13 Nov, 2018.
- 24. The Department of Health. Annual Medicare Statistics. The Department of Health,. <u>https://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/Annual-Medicare-Statistics</u>. Published 2018. Accessed 28 June, 2019.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. 3302.0 Deaths, Australia, 2017. Australian Bureau of Statistics,. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/3302.02017?OpenDocument</u>. Published 2018. Accessed 28 June, 2019.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. 3302.0 Deaths, Australia. Australian Bureau of Statistics,. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/Lookup/3302.0Explanatory%20</u> <u>Notes12017?OpenDocument</u>. Published 2017. Accessed 1 July 2019.
- 27. McGrail MR, Humphreys JS. Spatial access disparities to primary health care in rural and remote Australia. Geospatial health. 2015;10(2):358.
- Gardiner FW, Gale L, Ransom A, Laverty M. Looking Ahead: Responding to the health needs of country Australians in 2028- the centenary year of the RFDS. The Royal Flying Doctor Service <u>https://www.flyingdoctor.org.au/assets/documents/RN064\_Looking\_Ahead\_Report\_D3.pdf</u>. Published 2018. Accessed 1 July 2019.
- 29. Bishop L, Ransom A, Laverty M. Health care access, mental health, and preventive health: Health priority survey findings for people in the bush. Royal Flying Doctor Service. <u>https://www.flyingdoctor.org.au/assets/files/RN032\_Healths\_Needs\_Survey\_Result-no\_crop\_marks\_P3.pdf</u>. Published 2017. Accessed 4 July, 2019.
- **30.** Gardiner FW, Richardson A, Gale L, et al. Rural and remote dental care: Patient epidemiology and healthcare provision. MJA. 2019;In review.
- Davis J, Morgans A, Stewart J. Developing an Australian health and aged care research agenda: a systematic review of evidence at the subacute interface. Aust Health Rev. 2016;40(4):420-427.
- 32. Drummond PD, Mizan A, Brocx K, Wright B. Barriers to accessing health care services for West African refugee women living in Western Australia. Health care for women international. 2011;32(3):206-224.
- **33.** Hurley C, Panagiotopoulos G, Tsianikas M, Newman L, Walker R. Access and acceptability of community-based services for older Greek migrants in Australia: user and provider perspectives. Health & social care in the community. 2013;21(2):140-149.
- 34. Gardiner FW, Teoh N, Coleman M, et al. Aeromedical retrievals for mental health crises reflect low level of support services in rural and remote Australia. MJA 2019;In review
- **35.** Gardiner F, Richardson A, Bishop L, et al. Health care for older people in rural and remote Australia: challenges for service provision. Med J Aust. 2019;211(8).

- **36.** Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in HealthCare. Atlas 2018 Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in HealthCare, <u>https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/atlas/the-third-australian-atlas-of-healthcare-variation-2018/overview/</u>. Published 2018. Accessed 22 Janruary 2019.
- The Second Australian Atlas of Healthcare Variation. The Second Australian Atlas of Healthcare Variation. <u>https://acsqhc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapJournal/index.</u> <u>html?appid=63e4b6a73138444395f762fa3a61db8b</u>. Published 2017, . Accessed 23 November, 2018.
- Gardiner FW, Bishop L, Foreman R, Potter J, Gale L, Laverty M. Cardiovascular disease prevention and rehabilitation in rural and remote populations. Royal Flying Doctor Service <u>https://www.flyingdoctor.org.au/what-we-do/research/</u>. Published 2019. Accessed 4 July, 2019.
- Young AF, Dobson AJ. The decline in bulk-billing and increase in out-of-pocket costs for general practice consultations in rural areas of Australia, 1995–2001. Medical Journal of Australia. 2003;178(3):122-126.
- **40.** Australian Government. MBS Online Australian Government. <u>http://www.mbsonline.gov.au/</u> <u>internet/mbsonline/publishing.nsf/Content/Home</u>. Published 2019. Accessed 4 July, 2019.
- Jacobs J, Peterson KL, Allender S, Alston LV, Nichols M. Regional variation in cardiovascular mortality in Australia 2009–2012: the impact of remoteness and socioeconomic status. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2018;42(5):467-473.
- **42.** Kamal N, Sheng S, Xian Y, et al. Delays in Door-to-Needle Times and Their Impact on Treatment Time and Outcomes in Get With The Guidelines-Stroke. Stroke. 2017;48(4):946-954.
- 43. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. European journal of heart failure. 2016;18(8):891-975.
- **44.** Abdel-Latif ME, Bajuk B, Oei J, et al. Does rural or urban residence make a difference to neonatal outcome in premature birth? A regional study in Australia. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2006;91(4):F251-F256.
- **45.** Abdel-Latif ME, Bajuk B, Oei J, Vincent T, Sutton L, Lui K. Does rural or urban residence make a difference to neonatal outcome in premature birth? A regional study in Australia. Archives of Disease in Childhood Fetal and Neonatal Edition. 2006;91(4):F251-F256.
- Gardiner FW, McCuaig R, Arthur C, et al. The prevalence and pregnancy outcomes of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: A retrospective clinical audit review. Obstetric Medicine. 2018:1753495X18797749.
- **47.** Roberts CL, Algert CS. The urban and rural divide for women giving birth in NSW, 1990–1997. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2000;24(3):291-297.
- **48.** Leon DA. Fetal growth and adult disease. European journal of clinical nutrition. 1998;52 Suppl 1:S72-78; discussion S78-82.
- **49.** Russell DJ, Humphreys JS, Ward B, et al. Helping policy-makers address rural health access problems. Aust J Rural Health. 2013;21(2):61-71.
- 50. Wilson NW, Couper ID, De Vries E, Reid S, Fish T, Marais BJ. A critical review of interventions to redress the inequitable distribution of healthcare professionals to rural and remote areas. Rural Remote Health. 2009;9(2):1060.
- 51. World Health Organisation. Increasing access to health workers in remote and rural areas through improved retention. World Health Organisation,. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44369/9789241564014\_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>. Published 2010. Accessed 12 July, 2019.
- 52. Laven G, Wilkinson D. Rural doctors and rural backgrounds: how strong is the evidence? A systematic review. The Australian journal of rural health. 2003;11(6):277-284.

- 53. de Vries E, Reid S. Do South African medical students of rural origin return to rural practice? South African medical journal = Suid-Afrikaanse tydskrif vir geneeskunde. 2003;93(10):789-793.
- 54. Rabinowitz HK, Diamond JJ, Markham FW, Rabinowitz C. Long-term retention of graduates from a program to increase the supply of rural family physicians. Acad Med. 2005;80(8):728-732.
- 55. Woloschuk W, Tarrant M. Do students from rural backgrounds engage in rural family practice more than their urban-raised peers? Medical education. 2004;38(3):259-261.
- Smucny J, Beatty P, Grant W, Dennison T, Wolff LT. An evaluation of the Rural Medical Education Program of the State University Of New York Upstate Medical University, 1990-2003. Acad Med. 2005;80(8):733-738.
- **57.** Capstick S, Beresford R, Gray A. Rural pharmacy in New Zealand: effects of a compulsory externship on student perspectives and implications for workforce shortage. The Australian journal of rural health. 2008;16(3):150-155.
- Courtney M, Edwards H, Smith S, Finlayson K. The impact of rural clinical placement on student nurses' employment intentions. Collegian (Royal College of Nursing, Australia). 2002;9(1):12-18.
- **59.** Kaye DK, Mwanika A, Sewankambo N. Influence of the training experience of Makerere University medical and nursing graduates on willingness and competence to work in rural health facilities. Rural Remote Health. 2010;10(1):1372.
- **60.** Mathews M, Rourke JT, Park A. The contribution of Memorial University's medical school to rural physician supply. Canadian journal of rural medicine : the official journal of the Society of Rural Physicians of Canada = Journal canadien de la medecine rurale : le journal officiel de la Societe de medecine rurale du Canada. 2008;13(1):15-21.
- Whiteside C, Pope A, Mathias R. Identifying the need for curriculum change. When a rural training program needs reform. Canadian family physician Medecin de famille canadien. 1997;43:1390-1394.
- 62. White CD, Willett K, Mitchell C, Constantine S. Making a difference: education and training retains and supports rural and remote doctors in Queensland. Rural Remote Health. 2007;7(2):700.
- **63.** Hoodless M, Bourke L. Expanding the scope of practice for enrolled nurses working in an Australian rural health service implications for job satisfaction. Nurse education today. 2009;29(4):432-438.
- 64. Lewin SA, Dick J, Pond P, et al. Lay health workers in primary and community health care. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005(1):Cd004015.
- **65.** Cavender A, Alban M. Compulsory medical service in Ecuador: the physician's perspective. Social science & medicine (1982). 1998;47(12):1937-1946.
- **66.** Reid SJ. Compulsory community service for doctors in South Africa--an evaluation of the first year. South African medical journal = Suid-Afrikaanse tydskrif vir geneeskunde. 2001;91(4):329-336.
- 67. Barnighausen T, Bloom DE. Financial incentives for return of service in underserved areas: a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2009;9:86.
- **68.** The Department of Health. Rural Retention Program continued and increased funding. The Department of Health,. <u>https://www.health.gov.au/internet/budget/publishing.nsf/Content/budget2007-hfact24.htm</u>. Published 2007. Accessed 15 July, 2019.
- Lehmann U, Dieleman M, Martineau T. Staffing remote rural areas in middle- and low-income countries: a literature review of attraction and retention. BMC health services research. 2008;8:19-19.
- **70.** Kotzee TJ, Couper ID. What interventions do South African qualified doctors think will retain them in rural hospitals of the Limpopo province of South Africa? Rural Remote Health. 2006;6(3):581.

- **71.** Grobler L, Marais BJ, Mabunda SA, Marindi PN, Reuter H, Volmink J. Interventions for increasing the proportion of health professionals practising in rural and other underserved areas. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009(1):Cd005314.
- Henderson LN, Tulloch J. Incentives for retaining and motivating health workers in Pacific and Asian countries. Human resources for health. 2008;6:18.
- **73.** Watanabe M, Jennett P, Watson M. The effect of information technology on the physician workforce and health care in isolated communities: the Canadian picture. Journal of telemedicine and telecare. 1999;5 Suppl 2:S11-19.
- 74. Gruen RL, Weeramanthri TS, Knight SE, Bailie RS. Specialist outreach clinics in primary care and rural hospital settings. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004(1):Cd003798.
- **75.** Gagnon M-P, Duplantie J, Fortin J-P, Landry R. Exploring the effects of telehealth on medical human resources supply: a qualitative case study in remote regions. BMC health services research. 2007;7:6-6.
- **76.** Butterworth K, Hayes B, Neupane B. Retention of general practitioners in rural Nepal: a qualitative study. The Australian journal of rural health. 2008;16(4):201-206.
- 77. Gardiner M, Sexton R, Kearns H, Marshall K. Impact of support initiatives on retaining rural general practitioners. The Australian journal of rural health. 2006;14(5):196-201.

# **Appendices**

Appendix 1 Rural and remote primary healthcare (combined) locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation





# Appendix 2 Rural and remote GP locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation



# Appendix 3 Rural and remote nurse-led clinic locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation







Appendix 5 Rural and remote mental health service locations and corresponding population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation

